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Appear ances: Katherine Vigil, Esqg., Ofice of the Solicitor
U S. Department of Labor, Denver, Col orado, for
Petitioner Carl E Kingston, Esq., Salt Lake
Cty, Uah, for Respondent

Bef or e: Judge Vai
|. Statenent of the Case

The above-captioned civil penalty proceedi ngs were brought
pursuant to section 110(a) of the Federal Mne Safety and Heal th
Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. 801 et seq. (hereinafter referred to as
"the Act"). The violations were charged in 21 citations issued
to respondent follow ng inspections at its Co-op mne | ocated at
Hunti ngt on Canyon, Utah. Pursuant to notice, a hearing on the
merits was held in Salt Lake City, Uah. The parties waived
filing post-hearing briefs.

Il. Issues

The principal issues presented in this proceeding are: (1)
whet her respondent has viol ated the provisions of the Act and
i npl enenting regul ations as alleged in the proposal for
assessnment of civil penalties filed in this proceeding; and, if
so, (2) the appropriate civil penalty that should be assessed
agai nst the respondent for the alleged violations based upon the
criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the Act. Additiona
i ssues raised by the parties are identified and di sposed of in
the course of this decision
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[11. Settlenment Proposals

At the outset of the hearing, the petitioner noved that a
settl enent agreenent entered into jointly by the parties be
approved as foll ows:

Docket No. WEST 80-142

The petitioner contended that a reduction in the anounts of
the four proposed penalties in the citations |listed bel ow were in
order for the reason that upon review of the facts surrounding
their issuance, it was found that respondent's negligence was not
as great as originally assessed. The parties proposed the
fol | owi ng:

Anmended
Pr oposed Pr oposed

Citation No. 30 CF.RO Penal ty Penal ty
789024 75. 1103 $ 90. 00 $ 72.00
789026 75. 604 210. 00 168. 00
788576 77.202 170. 00 136. 00
788577 75.1106- 3C 130. 00 104. 00

Docket No. WEST 80-286

The parties stipulated that the respondent had agreed to pay
the full anmount of the proposed penalties assessed in eight of
the twelve citations |isted below and that the reason for the
petitioner proposing a reduction in the proposed penalties for
the remaining four citations is that it was determ ned that
respondent's negligence was | ess than originally assessed. The
respondent agreed to pay the full anmount of the proposed
penalties in the follow ng citations:

Citation No. 30 CF.R O Proposed Penal ty
788834 75. 316 $150. 00
788835 75. 316 140. 00
788837 75. 316 66. 00
788838 75. 316 72.00
788839 75.1715 52. 00
788883 75. 404 36. 00
788885 75.1715 40. 00
788886 75.1715 72.00

The parties stipulated and agreed that the penalties for the
citations listed bel ow woul d be anended as fol |l ows:
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Anmended
Pr oposed Pr oposed

Citation No. 30 CF.RO Penal ty Penal ty
788831 75. 1801 $ 48.00 $ 38.00
788832 75. 1803 48. 00 38. 00
788833 75. 1806 48. 00 38. 00
788840 75.1725C 98. 00 78. 00

V. Stipulations
The parties also entered into the follow ng stipulations:

1. The Co-op mne produced between 127,300 and 163,671 tons
of coal a year and enpl oyed approxi mately 20 people.

2. The mine experienced 143 inspection days in the 24
nont hs precedi ng the i ssuance of the citations in WEST 80-142,
and received 127 assessed viol ati ons.

3. The mine had approximately 123 to 150 i nspection days in
the 24 nonths proceedi ng the i ssuance of the citations in Docket
No. WEST 80-286 and was issued 131 to 138 assessed viol ations.

4. The assessnent of reasonable penalties in the present
proceedi ngs would not affect the respondent's ability to continue
i n business.

Upon due consideration, | conclude that the proposed
settl enents should be approved. Approval of the settl enent
proposal s are reflected below in the final order

After settlenent of the above citations in these three
consol i dated cases, there remains five citations alleging
viol ation of safety standards to be resolved. These are as
follows: WEST 80-142, Citation Nos. 788573 and 788579; West
80-286, Citation Nos. 788884 and 788887; WEST 81-85, Citation No.
1020472.

Di scussi on
WEST 80- 142
Citation No. 788573

Citation No. 788573 alleges a type 104(a) violation of
standard 30 C F.R 0O77.208(e) which provides as foll ows:

Val ves on conpressed gas cylinders shall be protected
by covers when being transported or stored, and by a
safe |l ocation when cylinders are in use.

MSHA i nspector Dick Jones testified that he issued the above
citation during an inspection of the respondent's Co-op M ne
after observing two cylinders of conpressed gas at the tipple
with the
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hoses and gauges still attached. The cylinders were secured to
one of the supports under the coal preparation plant and were not
bei ng used (Tr. 13-14).

The respondent does not dispute the fact that the cylinders
were | ocated at the place described by the i nspector and without
covers. However, Bill Stoddard, superintendent of the mne
testified that the two cylinders were | ocated under the floor of
the storage bin and that the bottons of the cylinders were
secured in round containers. The cylinders were further secured
by two chains wapped around the tanks to hold themin place (Tr.
36). Stoddard maintained that this was a permanent installation
and that the tanks are protected fromanything hitting or falling
on them The cylinders are used by the tipple foreman at
different tines for maintenance work when he is not busy with
duties involving the tipple.

Respondent argues that the cylinders were being used
continuously on a daily basis. The tipple foreman at the tinme of
the inspection, had left this area where the tanks were | ocated
to go load a truck. It is respondent's contention that when the
gas cylinders are in a location where they are being used, they
do not fall under the provisions of the standard whi ch provides
for the hoses and gauges to be rempbved and covers put on when
bei ng "stored".

The petitioner contends that the inspector observed the two
cylinders w thout covers on and that they were not being used at
the tine. He argues that under these circunstances they were
being "stored" and required that covers be placed on the tops as
there was a potential danger of something falling on top of or
striking the cylinders and knocking off the gauges or hoses
all owi ng the gas to escape.

The threshold i ssue here is whether the gas cylinders were
being "stored" or "in use" when the inspector observed them
Part 77 of 30 C.F.R does not define, "stored" or "in use"
Webster's New Col l egiate Dictionary 1977 Edition defines store
(stored) as follows: "to lay away; to place or leave in a
| ocation (as a warehouse, library or conputer nmenory): sonething
that is stored or kept for future use."

In Western Steel Corporation, 5 FMSHRC 310 (March 1983), the
Conmi ssion considered a simlar factual situation under the
standards for netal and nonnetal underground mines. In that
case, the operator of an oxyacetylene torch welder had left the
gas valves on the tank while he left the area to secure
additional material. The standard cited in this instance stated
as follows: "57.4-33 Mandatory. Valves on oxygen and acetyl ene
tanks shall be kept closed when the contents are not being used.
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The Conmi ssion upheld the Adm nistrative Law Judge's vacati on
of this citation stating; "It nust have been contenplated in the
drafting of the standard that sone reasonable | apse of tinme be
permtted between the cutting and welding with the torch and
closing of the tank valves." The Conm ssion decided that the
case required themto construe the neani ng of the key phrase,
"not being used." They stated that "use" has a tenporal neaning
because tasks extend over tinme. The Conmi ssion determ ned that
t he approxi mately 20-m nute absence fromthe torch head was of
tenmporary duration and directly related to the continuous
performance of the specific welding task. However, in a footnote
they stated that the above case did not require themto, and they
did not decide whether a tenporary |aying aside of the torch
wel der for other work-related reasons or for such purposes as
coffee breaks, trips to the lavatory, or the like, would require
a different approach.

In Iight of the foregoing, it may be reasonably inferred
that the decision in the Western Steel case can be applied to the
facts being considered here. The evidence in this case is not
explicit as to how long the tipple operator had been gone from
the area where the tanks were located, or for what reason he
left. Jones testified that when he arrived at the tipple he
observed the two cylinders with the hoses and gauges stil
attached. Jones stated that he saw a truck | oading at the tipple
and when the truck left, the mner working at |oading the truck
cane over and identified hinself as the tipple foreman. He
abated the alleged violation by taking off the gauges and putting
on the covers. Jones testified that he did not know how | ong it
had been since sonmeone had used these cylinders (Tr. 18).

After a careful review of all of the evidence of record,
am persuaded that a violation of the cited standard occurred in
this case. The respondent failed to identify any task the tipple
foreman was performng prior to his |loading the truck at the
tipple. The thrust of respondent’'s argunents are that there was
not a potential for danger fromthese tanks because of the
| ocation and manner in which they were |ocated at the mne. Even
assum ng that the potential for an accident had been reduced
consi derably by reason of described precautions, the fact remnains
that the standard requires the covers to be placed on the tanks
when they are not "in use" and are "being stored.”" There is no
evi dence that these tanks were being used by anyone prior to the
arrival of the inspector so | amnot presented with a factua
situation simlar to that posed in the Western Steel case. The
evi dence shows the tanks were kept at this location so that they
were avail able for use by the tipple foreman whenever he had a
task to do between his various duties at the tipple. However,
when not in use, the standard requires that the covers be placed
on these tanks, which the respondent had not done.
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I do not find either the negligence or gravity serious in
this violation for the tanks were placed in an area where there was
some protection fromexternal forces and they were tied down wth
chains to prevent themfromfalling over. The likelihood of a
serious injury was small and usually only the tipple foreman
would be in the area. Further, abatenment was achi eved
i medi ately denonstrating a good faith effort to achieve rapid
conpliance. | assess a penalty of $35.00 for the respondent's
violation of 0O77.208(e).

Citation No. 788579

Duri ng an underground inspection of respondent's Co-op M ne,
I nspect or Jones issued citation No. 788579 charging a violation
of 30 CF.R [75.523(FOOTNOTE 1) and all eging as foll ows:

The Joy roof bolter observed being operated in the belt
entry of the 2-right working section was not provided
wi th devices (panic bars) that will permt the

equi prent to be deenergi zed quickly in the event of an
emer gency.

Jones testified that he observed two mners roof bolting in
the entry outby the face and noticed there were no panic bars or
means provided to quickly deenergi ze the tranm ng notors on the
roof bolting machine in the event of an energency. Jones asked
one of the miners if the equipnent could be trammed from where he
was standing and the miner answered "yes" (Tr. 22, 23). Jones
was acconpani ed on this inspection by Ron Mattingly, respondent's
enpl oyee responsible for electrical maintenance. Upon being
shown the alleged violation, Muttingly agreed that the machine
needed panic bars (Tr. 23).

Evi dence shows that the roof bolting machine cited in this
case was constructed froma frame originally manufactured by the
Joy Manufacturing Conmpany. Two boons manufactured by the Manson
Conmpany were attached to the front of the frame for drilling
holes for installing roof bolts. Valves are |ocated on each boom
to operate the hydraulic pressure to run the drills. The
procedure for roof bolting with this two-man bolter is for a
m ner to stand on each side to operate the controls on the boom
Each mner drills two holes for the roof bolts and then usually
the m ner on the right side goes to the cage |ocated on that side
to tram (nove) the nmachine forward or backwards as needed (Tr.
55). The
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testinony of several witnesses explained that the roof bolter was
trammed by a hydraulic tramm ng notor. A punp turned by an

el ectric notor provided pressure necessary to operate the
tramm ng notor to nove the nmachine as well as the drills on the
two boonms (Tr. 84, 85). The term"tramming notor"” is defined in
the Bureau of Mnes, U 'S. Departnent of Interior, A Dictionary of
M ning, Mneral and Related Terns (1968) as follows: "My refer
to an electric |oconotive used for hauling | oaded trips, or it
may refer to the nmotor in a cutting nmachi ne which supplies the
power for noving or tranm ng the nmachine.”

Respondent sets forth essentially three argunents germane to
t he question of whether a violation of 075.523 occurred. First,
that the roof bolting machine had two panic bars installed on the
machi ne, painted fluorescent orange in color, and the inspector
failed to see them Second, that the inspector m sunderstood the
mner's reply to his question as to whether the machine could be
trammed fromwhere he was standing. Third, that the roof bolter
could only be tranmed frominside the cage on the machi ne and
pani c bars were unnecessary (Tr. 170, 171).

The specific issue to be decided is whether the nmachi ne
cited in this case had devices installed on it which would allow
it to be quickly deenergized in the event of an energency. There
i s considerable divergent testinony as to whether there were
pani c bars installed on the machine with the inspector testifying
he saw none and the respondent's enpl oyees claimng they were
there and painted orange. The facts in this case nmust first be
considered in conjunction with the sub parts of 30 CF. R [O
75.523 whi ch provide the applicable provisions adopted by the
Secretary in conpliance with the statutory authority of the above
regul ati on. (FOOTNOTE 2) 30 C.F.R [075.523-1 provides in part as
fol | ows:

Deenergi zati on of self propelled electrical face
equi prent installation requirenents.

(a) Except as provided in paragraphs (b) and (c) of
this section, all self-propelled electric face
equi prrent
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which is used in the active workings of each
underground coal mine on and after March 1, 1973,
shall, in accordance with the schedule of tine
specified in paragraphs (a)(1) and (2) of this
section, be provided with a device that wll
qui ckly deenergi ze the tramm ng nmotors of the
equi prent in the event of an energency. The
requi renents of this paragraph (a) shall be net
as follows:

(1) On and after Decenber 15, 1974, for self-propelled
cutting machines, shuttle cars, battery-powered

machi nes, and roof drills and bolters;

(2) On and after February 15, 1975, for all other
types of self-propelled electric face equi pnent.

( FOOTNOTE 3)

Additionally, 30 C.F. R [075.523-1(a) nust be read in conjunction
with the requirenments of 30 CF. R [075.523-2(a)(b)(c) which
provi des as foll ows:

(a) Deenergization of the tranmm ng notors of
self-propelled electric face equi prment, required by
par agraph (a) of [075.523-1, shall be provided by:

(1) Mechanical actuation of an existing push
button enmergency stop switch

(2) Mechanical actuation of an existing |ever
energency stop switch, or

(3) The addition of a separate el ectromechanica
swi tch assenbly.
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(b) The existing energency stop switch or additiona
switch assenbly shall be actuated by a bar or |ever which
shal | extend a sufficient distance in each direction to
permt quick deenergization of the tramm ng notors of
self-propelled electric face equi pment fromall |ocations
fromwhi ch the equi prent can be operated

(c) Movenent of not nore than 2 inches of the
actuating bar or lever resulting fromthe application
of not nore than 15 pounds of force upon contact wth
any portion of the equi pment operator's body at any
point along the I ength of the actuating bar or |ever
shal | cause deenergization of the tramm ng notors of
the self-propelled electric face equi prment.

Turning to the merits of this case, the undisputed testinony
of respondent’'s own w tness shows that a violation of the Act
occurred. Ron Mattingly testified that he was famliar with the
condition of the panic bars on the day of the subject inspection
and that one of the panic bars didn't function because of a
faulty internal switch. It had been damaged and woul d not
deenergi ze the equi pnent. Mattingly clainmed there were two panic
bars on the roof bolter, one on each side and that only one was
working (Tr. 63, 64).

The thrust of the conflicting testinony in this case is
m sdirected towards two issues: First, whether the roof bolter
could be tranmed or noved froma position where the mners
normal |y stood while operating the drills on the two boons.
Second, whether there were panic bars on the boons to deenergize
t he equi pnent in case of an energency. Three witnesses testified
on behal f of the respondent that the machine could only be driven
forward or backwards fromthe cage | ocated on the right side and
that the m ner would have to get in the cage to do this. This
evi dence was uncontroverted.

The sanme three witnesses also testified that there were
pani c bars installed on the roof bolter with Mattingly stating
that they were painted fluorescent orange. Jones stated that he
did not see the panic bars described by the respondent's
Wi t nesses

However, assunming that the roof bolter was equi pped wth
pani ¢ bars on each boom and could not be trammed or driven by a
m ner standing there, the respondent's defense nust fail.
Respondent's wi tness and el ectrical maintenance forenman testified
t hat he knew one of the switches on the boom of the roof bolter
used to deenergi ze the tranm ng notor was inoperative and that
the switch had been on order for approximtely two nmonths (Tr.

63, 64).
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I find that the |ack of a device on one boom of this two man
roof bolter is a violation of the standard, specifically that part of
section 75.523-2(b) which states in pertinent part as follows:
(b) The existing energency stop switch or additional swtch
assenbly shall ... permt quick deenergization of the
tramm ng notors of self-propelled electric face equi pnent from
all locations fromwhich the equi pment can be operated.”
(enphasi s added) .

I find that the evidence clearly shows that the roof bolter

could be "operated” fromthe boonms. That is, the mners drilling
hol es turned the val ves on the boons to operate the drills for
installing roof bolts. It is vital in such a position that each

m ner be afforded a panic device to turn off the tranmi ng notors
powering the equi pnent in the event of an energency.

Respondent argues that one of the switches was operative and
that this is all the standard requires. | reject that argument
for it is inperative that the device be available for quick
deener gi zation of the equipnent fromboth sides and requiring one
m ner to go around the equi pnent to the other side to turn off
the switch defeats the purpose. Although, | find it unnecessary
in this case to resolve the question as to whether there were
pani c bars on the machine, it is inperative and required by the
standard that such bars be installed to give the mner an
opportunity to quickly "hit" the switch should an energency
ari se.

Penal ty

The six criteria for assessing a penalty are set out in 30
C.F.R 0820(i). The size of the operator is nmedium The
assessnment of reasonable penalties in this case will not affect
respondent's ability to continue in business. | find that
respondent was negligent in allowng the two man roof bolting
machi ne to be operated with one faulty panic switch. Al so,
find that the respondent knew of this faulty switch as its
enpl oyee responsi ble for electrical maintenance testified he was
aware of this for over a two nonth period prior to the
i nspecti on.

The probability of injury exists as the m ner operating the
drill was exposed to becom ng entangled in the machi ne and bei ng
unable to switch it off. There is a |likelihood that the other
m ner coul d deenergize the machine with his switch if he becane
aware of a need to do so, but this could take tine. The injury
could be serious and cause death. Only one mner at a tinme would
be exposed to the risk. Respondent showed good faith in
abatenent of the violation. | find $150.00 is an appropriate
penalty in this case.
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VEST 80- 286

Citation No. 788884

Citation No. 788884 charges a 104(a) violation of 30 C F.R
075.1725(c) which provides as follows

Repai rs or mai ntenance shall not be performed on
machi nery until the power is off and the nmachinery is
bl ocked agai nst notion, except where machinery notion
i s necessary to make adj ustnents.

I nspector Ted Farmer testified that while inspecting the
second right section of the first entry in the Co-op m ne he
observed a continuous m ner being repaired while the power was
on. The inspector testified that this created a dangerous
situation because the enpl oyee doing the repairs was positioned
under a cutting head containing sharp spi kes which could have
severely injured the enpl oyee had the power come on and the
cutting head started running.

Respondent adnits the above facts as described by the
i nspector but denies that a dangerous situation existed. It is
respondent's position that even though power was connected to the
machi ne, it was not running and the cutting head was bl ocked and
woul d not nove if the machine started up

Scott Stoddard, respondent's mne forenman, testified that
t he conveyor chain was off the cog and he was under the nachine
trying to get it back on. He stated that the front of the
machi ne was bl ocked up by a 6 foot crib and the switch to the
power was off. He could not conceive of an accident happeni ng
because of the bl ock and the switch being off (Tr. 142, 143).
St oddard contends that it was necessary to run the nachi ne at
certain times during these adjustnents to get the holes in the
chain lock to line up with the cog (Tr. 144). Respondent
contends that there was no danger here and also that there is a
provision in 30 C.F. R 075.1725(c) which provides that power may
be on " where machi nery notion is necessary to nake
adj ustnments. "

I find that the above exception does not apply here.
Testinmony reveals that in order to conplete the process of
adjusting the cog to the chain, Stoddard, fromhis position
out side the continuous mner, would direct the operator who was
stationed in the cab of the continuous mner to run the cog.
After he felt the cog was aligned properly, Stoddard woul d then
go back under the head of the continuous miner to check the cog
and chain for alignment (Tr. at 147). At this point, Stoddard
woul d be under the cutting head while another man was in the cab
at the controls with the power on. This presents a very dangerous
situation. There is no reason why the power to the machine could
not be turned off while Stoddard was goi ng back under the head to
check the alignment. |If the cog required further adjustnent,

St oddard coul d have backed away fromthe machi ne, power could
have
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been turned back on, and the cog rotated by the operator in the
cab.

| therefore reject the Conpany's defense because it was not
"necessary" that the power be on while the repairman was under
the cutting head to check the alignnent of the cog to the chain.
The citation is affirned.

Penal ty

I find the respondent was negligent in not enforcing the
safety regulation cited in this case and particularly where it is
a mne foreman who was performng the all eged dangerous act. The
probability and gravity appear high in that the cutting head
woul d inflict serious and possibly fatal injuries to an exposed
m ner. Al so, the machine could easily be activated while the
repairs were being perfornmed under the machine. The violation
was qui ckly abated showi ng good faith on respondent’'s part. |
find $275.00 is an appropriate penalty in this case.

Citation No. 788887

Citation No. 788887 charges a 104(a) violation of 30 CF. R
075.316. 30 C.F.R 075.316 provides as foll ows:

Ventil ati on system and net hane and dust control plan
[Statutory Provisions].

A ventilation system and net hane and dust control plan
and revisions thereof suitable to the conditions and
the m ning systemof the coal nmine and approved by the
Secretary shall be adopted by the operator and set out
in printed formon or before June 28, 1970. The plan
shall show the type and | ocati on of mechanica

ventil ation equi prent installed and operated in the

m ne, such additional or inproved equi pnent as the
Secretary may require, the quantity and velocity of air
reachi ng each working face, and such other information
as the Secretary may require. Such plan shall be
reviewed by the operator and the Secretary at | east
every six nonths.

The facts related to this citation are not in dispute. 1In
accordance with [075.316, respondent devel oped such a plan with
the Secretary's approval. That plan required that brattice lines

or curtains be installed anytine an entry exceeds fifty feet from
a crosscut (Tr. at 134, 135 and P-8). Wen the inspector nade
hi s
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i nspecti on he saw an entry whi ch had been m ned 113 feet past the
crosscut but was not equipped with a brattice Iine or curtain as
the plan requires (P-10). \While no brattice line was in place
the inspector did observe marks in the roof which would indicate
that sometine prior to the inspection a brattice line had been
hung. The inspector also noticed sone evidence of rib sloughage
in the area where the curtain would have been hung. | find the

i nspector's testinmony to be credi ble and accept these facts.

VWhen an operator departs fromhis ventilation plan, a
violation of 30 C F.R [075.316 occurs. Zeigler Coal Co., 4 | MBA
30 (1975), aff'd. 536 F. 2d 398 (D.C. Gr. 1976). The fact that
the brattice line may have only been down for a short tine or
because of unusual conditions is not a defense. Consolidated
Coal Co. 3 FMBHRC 2207 (Septenber 1981). The citation is
therefore affirned.

I find that respondent was negligent in failing to enforce
safety regul ation 075.316 mandating brattice curtains in
accordance with the operator’'s ventilation plan

Concerning citation No. 788887, | find the probability of
injury to be noderate, the gravity of the potential injury to be
very serious, and the nunber of enpl oyees subject to this danger
to be considerable. While the facts do not disclose that a
nmet hane expl osion was |ikely, had one occurred the injuries
resulting fromsuch an expl osion could be fatal or very serious
and the nunber of miners affected would be high. | find $160. 00
is an appropriate penalty in this case.

WEST 81- 85
Ctation No. 1020472

Citation No. 1020472 alleges a 104(a) violation of 30 C F. R
075. 403 which provides in pertinent part as foll ows

Mai nt enance of inconbustible content of rock dust.
[Statutory Provision]

VWhere rock dust is required to be applied, it shall be
di stributed upon the top, floor, and sides of al
underground areas of a coal mne and maintained in such
gquantities that the inconbustible content of the

conbi ned coal dust, rock dust, and other dust shall be
not |less than 65 per centum but the inconbustible
content in the return aircourses shall be no | ess than
80 per centum. ...
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Wth respect to this citation, the essential facts are not
in dispute. During a general inspection of respondent's Co-op M ne,
I nspector Farner noticed that the coloration on certain areas of
the mne were a bit dark. This indicated to Farnmer that the
percent age of inconbustible content of rock dust mght be lowin
this specific area. Farner took a spot sanple of the dust by
scraping a rib with a brush, sifting the material through a
screen, and sending the sifted material out for chem ca
anal ysis. The usual procedure, referred to as band sanpli ng,
woul d be to conmbine samples fromthe roof, floor and both ribs.
On this occasion, because the floor and roof were too wet, Farner
only took sanples fromthe ribs. The reason for this is that the
noi sture content of the floor would cause the test to be
inaccurate as to the ribs. Farner noted wet floor condition on
the form whi ch acconpani ed the sanpl es when they were sent for
anal ysi s.

Four different sanples fromdifferent areas were sent out
for analysis. A dust sanpling report was returned to Farnmer with
the results as follows: Spot #1 (sanple taken fromfloor and
ribs at an intake entry) 76% Spot #2 (sanple taken fromribs at
areturn entry) 73% Spot #3 (sanple taken fromfloor and ribs at
areturn entry) 73% and Spot #4 (sanple taken fromribs at an
i ntake entry) 83% (Exh. P-4).

Co-op argues that the dust sanpling report |acks a
sufficient foundation because the inspector who testified to its
findi ngs had no personal know edge of the testing procedures used
to evaluate the sanple. This identical defense was
unsuccessfully raised by Co-op earlier in Co-op Coal Co., 3 IMBA
533 (1974), which also concerned admi ssibility of a dust sanpling
report on a 30 CF.R 75.403 violation. The Adm nistrative Law
Judge in that case admitted the report because it had the
"earmarks of reliability" and held that such a report can
"establish a prima facie case of violation.” Co-op Coal, at 539.
Dust sanple reports have been admtted in several other cases
i nvol ving all eged violation of 0075.403 wi thout testinony of the
person conducting the actual chem cal analysis. See Leechburg
M ning Co., 1 FMSHRC 632 (June 1979), Itmann Coal Co., 3 FMSHRC
1221 (May 1981); and A d Ben Coal Co., 2 FMSHRC 2806 (Cct. 1980).

Beyond admissibility, Co-op also attacks the credibility of
the report on the basis that the testing procedures enpl oyed by
the inspector were irregular. Such an attack is indeed
aut hori zed under Co-op Coal Co., 3 IMBA at 539. It is argued
that normal procedure dictated by the MSHA Underground Manua
requi res band or perinmeter sanmpling. Band sanpling entails
collecting dust fromthe floor, roof and both ribs and then
conbining all the dust in one sanple for a single reading.
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This was not the nethod foll owed by Farmer in gathering the
sanmpl es which generated the report in this case. Instead, the
sanmple for Spot #2 was gathered only fromthe ribs and the sanple
for Spot #3 was gathered fromthe ribs and floor.(FOOTNOTE 4) It is
undi sputed that the floor at Spot #2 was "wet" w thin the nmeaning
of 30 CF. R [O75.402-1. Were a floor is "wet" there is no
danger of conbustibility and sanples are not necessary. 30
C.F.R 075.402. For this reason a floor sanple was not included
in the total Spot #2 sanple. At the sane tine, it is also clear
that noisture content will increase the percentage of
i ncombustible material and nust be considered as part of the
i nconbustible content of such material. 30 CF.R 075.403-1.
Respondent argues that they have been denied the benefit of the
wet floor readi ng which m ght have added sufficient inconbustible
material to the aggregate sanple to neet the 80% requirenment and
give a nore accurate reading.

Failure of the inspector to follow his own internal guide
lines on gathering dust report sanples is not al one reason to
di scard the sanple. dd Ben Coal, at 2809. Dust sanpling
reports based solely on rib sanples have been held sufficiently
accurate to support a [0075.403 violation if there are reasonabl e
grounds for the inspector's procedures. Itmann Coal, at 1226.

In the instant matter, the inspector testified that the roof
was too high to obtain sanples fromthere and the fl oor was too
wet to sanple. On further inquiry, however, the inspector
reveal ed that a sanple could have been obtained fromthe fl oor
but that he felt it was not necessary because there was
sufficient water to insure inconbustible content over 80% (Tr. at
106). When asked if mpoisture content was to be included in the
sanpl e the inspector answered in the affirmative and added t hat
this is why he noted the wet floor conditions on the form which
acconpani ed the sanmples (Tr. at 105). However, in making the
anal ysis which generated the 73% figure for Spot #2 | find that
the condition of the floor was not factored into the percent
readi ng what soever (Tr. at 105). Notwi thstanding this, the
Secretary bases his penalty solely on the percentage reading from
t he dust sanpling report.

In essence the governnent is arguing, notw thstanding the
cl ear mandate to include noisture content inits sanple, it can
take a sanpl e but excl ude high noisture content areas because
they are clearly in the safe range. The governnent then proposes
to use this data to prove that respondent does not neet the
threshold of the safe range. | find this reasoning to be
unsound. The Spot #2 reading is unnecessarily inaccurate. Itman
coal, at 1226. |If



~2019

the floor area was indeed too "wet" (as that termis used in 30
C.F.R 075. 402-1) and was clearly in the safe zone then that
specific area may be exenpt fromthe rock dusting requirenment

al t oget her under 30 C F. R [75. 402.

However, testinony does support a violation of the section
based on sanple #3 which did include sanples fromthe fl oor area
as well as the ribs. Co-op has not argued that one sanpl e al one
is insufficient to support a violation. Therefore, I find
Ctation No. 1020472 should be affirmed. Further, | find
respondent's failure to maintain a sufficient |evel of
i nconmbustible material constituted negligence as the regul ation
requires an 80% I evel and respondent was nmaintaining a 73% 1| evel.

| find the probability of injury as to this violation to be
| ow but the gravity of the injury, should one occur, to be
serious. Also a nunmber of enployees would be subject to this
danger. Two of the four tests showed the operator to be in
conpli ance. However, one of the two tests were unacceptably
i naccurate and one test shows the operator to be in violation but
only by seven percentage points. | find that $50.00 is an
appropriate penalty in this case.

Concl usi ons of Law

Based upon the entire record in these consolidated cases
i ncluding the stipulations of the parties and upon the factua
determ nati ons reached in the narrative portions of this
decision, it is concluded:

1. That the Conmi ssion has jurisdiction to decide these
three cases.

2. Based upon the stipulation of settlenent entered into
between the parties, the followi ng agreed settlenments for the
designated citations are approved as foll ows:

Docket No. WEST 80-142:

Citation No. Proposed Penalty
789024 $ 72.00
789026 168. 00
788576 136. 00
788577 104. 00

Tot al $480. 00
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Docket No. WEST 80- 286:

Citation No. Amended Proposed Penalty
788831 $ 38.00
788832 38. 00
788833 38. 00
788834 150. 00
788835 140. 00
788837 66. 00
788838 72.00
788839 52. 00
788840 78. 00
788883 36. 00
788885 40. 00
788886 72.00

Tot al $820. 00

3. That the credible evidence of record establishes as
follows: In Docket No. WEST 80-142, Citation No. 788573,
respondent violated 30 C F. R [77.208(e) by failing to repl ace
the covers on the tanks of conpressed gas when not in use and
that an appropriate penalty for this violation is $35.00. Al so,
in reference to Citation No. 788579, respondent violated 30
C.F.R 075.523, in failing to have a device on one of the boons
for deenergizing the tranm ng notors in the event of an energency
and that $150.00 is an appropriate penalty in this case.

4. In Docket No. WEST 80-286, Citation No. 788884, the
evi dence shows that respondent violated safety standard 30 C. F. R
075.1725(c) by failing to turn the power off to the continuou
m ner while a mner was underneath the nmachine attenpting to
repl ace the conveyor chain on the cog. An appropriate penalty in
this case is $275.00. As to Ctation No. 788887, respondent
violated 30 CF.R [75.316 by failing to followits approved
ventilation plan and an appropriate penalty for this violation is
$160. 00

5. In Docket No. WEST 81-85, CGitation No. 1020472, | find
that the evidence shows that respondent violated 30 CF.R [
75.403 by failing to maintain rock dust in sufficient quantities
to conply with the requirenments set out therein. Al though sonme of
the tests were not valid and indicative of a violation, | find
that sanple #3 supports the petitioner's contention that a
violation occurred and that an appropriate penalty is $50.00.

ORDER
Accordi ngly, based upon the foregoing findings of fact and

concl usions of law, the respondent is ORDERED to pay the total of
$1,970.00 within forty days of this decision

Virgil E. Vai
Admi ni strative Law Judge

FOOTNOTES START HERE-



1 El ectric Face Equi pnent; deenergization. (Statutory
Provision) An authorized representative of the Secretary may
require in any mne that electric face equi pnent be provided with
devices that will permt the equipnment to be deenergi zed quickly
in the event of an energency.

2 Al t hough the inspector cited section 75.523, it is clear
fromboth the neaning of the citation and the argunents of

counsel for both parties that respondent was alleged to have

vi ol ated subparts 1(a) and 2 (a)(b)(c) which generally set forth
the requirenents to conply with the main section. Respondent was
charged with not providing devices (panic bars) that would permt
t he equi pnent to be deenergized quickly in the event of an
energency. There was never a doubt that respondent was aware of
what it had been charged with in this citation

3 The exceptions set forth at 30 CFR 75.523-1(b) and (c)
provi de as foll ows:

"(b) Self-propelled electric face equi pnment that is
equi pped with a substantially constructed cab which neets the
requi renents of this part, shall not be required to be provided
with a device that will quickly deenergize the tranm ng notors of
t he equi pnent in the event of an energency."

"(c) An operator may apply to the Assistant
Admi ni strator-Techni cal Support, Mne Safety and Health
Admi ni stration, Department of Labor, 4015 WI son Boul evard,
Arlington, Virginia 22203 for approval of the installation of
devices to be used in lieu of devices that will quickly
deenergi ze the tramm ng nmotors of self-propelled electric face
equi prent in the event of an energency. The Assi stant
Admi ni strator-Techni cal Support may approve such devices if he
determ nes that the performance thereof will be no | ess effective
than the performance requirements specified in O075.523-2."

4 Spots 2 and 3 fromreturn aircourses are the critica

sanpl es because they both tested at 73% i nconbusti bl e content and
30 CF.R 75.403 requires 80% for return aircourses. The
remai ni ng sanpl es taken fromintaking aircourses tested at 76%
and 83% whi ch is above the 65% m ni num for intakes.



